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To the Sharcholders of
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Sultanate of Oman

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Scparate Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited thie consolidated and separare financial statements of Oman and Fmirates Iovestment Holding
Company SAOG (the “Parcnt Company”™) and its subsidianes {together the “Group™), which comprise the
consolidated and scparate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated and
sepacate statement of profir or loss, consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive income,
consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity and consolidated and separate statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and sepatate financial statemens, inchcling a summary of
significant accounting policics.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements present fairdy, in all material
respects, the financial posttion of the Patent Company and the Group as at 31 December 2020, and their financial
pecformance and their cash fows for the year thea ended in accordance with $nternational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (15As), Our responsibilities under
thuse standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional \ccountants (1:8BA
Codc) together with the ethical requicements that are relevant to our auds of the consolidated and sepacate
financial statements in the Sultanate of Oman, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitivs in accordance
with these cequirements and the TESB.A Code. We bebieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Repott (continued)

I

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those mattees thay, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated and separate financil statements of the cuerent year, These matters were addeessed in the context
of our awhit of the consoldned and separate fnancial statements as 3 whole, wnd o forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinon on these matters,

We have derermined the matter deseribed below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report:

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Valuation of unquoted investments in
equity securities

Refer to caavunting policies und note 7 to the consolidated | In responding o the identificd key audit mater, we
el sepuariste fimanciol sttesients. obtaned an understanding of the valuation execetse carred
out by the independent valuer who was responsible for
As stated in note 7 10 the consolidated and | performing the valuation and made relevant mquides of
separate  financial  statements, the  Group | such person m order to assess their competesice, capability
revalued its investment in unquoted equity | and obgpecuvity which are recognised as the smpoctant
shares based on the valuation carried out by an | factors affecting the reliabiliy of the valuation. Fuether, as
independent  valuer  through  the wse  of | pant of this exerase, we assessed the reasonablencss of
Discounted  Cash Flow  model, Dividend | sigaificant assumptions used in estimation, we performed
Growth model and Net Asseis model for | the following audit procedures:

business valuation. Since the use of such
valuation models include significant estimates | o Involving oue own valuation spectalists o support s

and assumptions, the degree of subjectivity and in challenging the valuations carded out by the Group
complexity involved in the valuation increases and methodulogy used for valuations;
10 1 considerable extent. .

Evaluated the reasonableness of significant amounts
of revenues, operating expenses, eapital expeaditures,
tax pavmens, dividend receipts/ payments ete. used in
the cash fow projections; and

s Evaluated the discount eates and long-term growth
rates assumed by valuer in estimating the discounted
and future values in the valuation.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprses the Chainman’s repont,
Management Discussion and Analysis report and Corporate Governance report but does not include these
consolidated and sepaeate financial statements and our awditoe's ceport thereon,

Our opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements do not cover the other information and we
do not express any (onn of assurance conclusion thereon.

In conneciion with our audit of these consolided and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other infonnation is materally inconsistent with
these consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obrained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. I, based on the work we have performed on other information obtained prioe 1o the
date of this auditor’s repoet, we conchude that there is 2 material misstatement of the other infonnation, we are
reyuired to report that fact, We have nothing to ceport in this regaal.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Managemeat is eesponsible for the peeparation and fair presentanion of these consolidated and separate financial
staternents i accordance winh IERSs aod the relevant requirements of the Capital Markee Muthority and the
Commercial Companies Las of the Sultanate of Ouun 2019, and foc such internal control as management
detesrines 15 necessary 0 enable the preparation of the consoludated and separate financnal stuements thar are
free from mareral susstaement, whether due to frand or error.

In preparing the consohdaed and separate financial statements, management s responsible for assessing the
Group’s abiity to continue a< a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concem and
ustng the going concern basts of accounting unless managensent either mntends 1o hquidate the Geoup o to cease
opecations, or has s realistic altermative but to do so.

‘Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting procuss,
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Scparate Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consobidated and sepatare financial
statements as a whale are free from material misscaement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that meludes our opinion Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducred m accordance with 15\s will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can anse from feaud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influcnce the economic decsions of users takea on the basis of these consolidated and sepacate
financtal statements.

s pact of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identfy and asscss the nisks of material misstatement of these consolidated and separate financial statements,
whether due ro fraud or error, design and peeform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtan andit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 16 provide a basis for our opinion. The ask of not detecting a
matenal missiatement cesultbyg from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 10 the audit in order 1o design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing aa opinion on the effectivencss of the
Group's internal control.

¢ Lvaluate the apprapriatencss of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based
an the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. 1f we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are requited to draw atiention in our auditor's repord 1o the redated disclosures in the
consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opmion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auduor’s report. However,
future events or conditions tmay cause the Group to cease 1o continue as a going concern,

*  Evaluare the overall presentation, structuze and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial staements represent the
underlying transactions and cvents in a manner that achieves faic presentation.

*  Obuain sufficient approptiate awdit ¢vidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial staterents. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group awdit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilitics for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal contcol that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 2 statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matter communicated with thase charged with governance, we determine this matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the cursent period and is thecefore
a key audir matter. We describe this marter in our auditor’s repott unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare ciccumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory requitements
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements as of and for the yeat ended 31 December 2020

comply, in all material respects, with the televant disclosure requirements of the Capital Market Authority and the
Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman, 2019.
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OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLYDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

242D
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Cush and bank balances 5 2452458 2613590 1,502,375 104,763 1,166,846 147,993
Trade and other rescivables ] 1250557 2076848 3,712,599 143,295 76,681 2,108,698
Inveriorics 463472 435319 431,699 - - -
Financial aseets 3t fair value through profit
ar loss (FVIPL) T 8573 25005888 32,797,259 19811465 21377538 22,057,078
Investment in equily accounited investers 9 18301821 19, 704887 (14,868,150 17033033 17823619 14,868,150
Investment in subsidiaries ] - - - 34897936 3613319 6435825
Financial ass=ts 3t amartised cast 11 120652 13371 142060 ZI20E2 2131370 2,042,060
Property, plent end equipment 2” 721,981 3,113.548 Sm9smas 615,985 727,939 3,341,098
Right-of-use assets 121 116,190 26,26 - - = -
Investment propertics 13 3229050 3353250 335000 2529050 3,053250 -
Deforred Lax; nsset 14 401,105  300.524 258423 - - -
Tota) nsscts 51506655 58.776.983 61993450 46356079 49.970.493 $1.100.902
EQUITY
Share capital 15 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500
Legal reserve 16 4521214 4921214 4362889 4062500 4062500 4062500
Retmined camings 2442115 4,088,741 3A55034 4029002 5364459 4.802.235
Equity attributable to the owners of the i
Parent Company 19550829 21.197.455 20505423 20279182 21.614.458 21.052.235
Nop-coatrolling intcrests 3,161.543 3345303 6163645 -
Total equity DI12.372  24.542.758  27.060.068  20.279.102  21.614. 459 21 052.135
LIABILITIES
Bank overdmfts s 2307610 2810215 1946614 2180858 1816784 1923452
Trode and other payables 19 2424085 2036850 2088515 626,023 231,923 £89,062
Lease liabilities 121 £39.352 26,835 - - . -
Term kaans 20 3270196 10707327 12236053 3270196 10707327 12,236,153
Loans from Governments 21 16976492 16,063,000 15540025 13323692 12538000 12,085.600
_Defermed Government proms 21 1676308 2584000 3.012975 1676308  2.462.000  2.515.000
Total Eabilities 31794283 3424 34524382 1877 6, .048.657
Total equity and Babilitses 54506655 58776983 61.993.450 46356179 49.970.453 51.100.902
Net assets per share 31 0.160 0.174 0,172 0.166 0.177 2.173

‘These consolidated and separatc financial statements on pages § 1o 51 umamvedbymeaomlorbummm 18 March 2021 and

wese signed on its behall by:

Mn&_ﬂ Khoori

Chairman

Report of the Auditors - page |

Ty Makoug Kozmdjian
Chief Executive OfTicer



OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(Restated) " (Restated)
2019 2019

Group Parent

3 RO RO
Income
[nterest income 22 15,281 60,172 15,281 35,077
Rental income 76,958 74,113 76,958 74,113
Brokerage commission income 145,261 197,375 - -
Dividends income 1,405,653 1,716,034 1,252,349 1,345,484
Net (loss)/income from financial assets at FVTPL 7 (905,463) 2,058,137 (804,412) 675,817
Gross profit on sale of food products 23 106,833 03,835 - -
Asset management fees 133,235 96,742 = -
Share of loss from equity accounted investees 9 (215,341) (117,983) (102,861) (35,646)
Share of (loss)/profit from subsidiaries accounted
under equity method 10 - - {115383) 622,467
QOther income 24 57,972 46,693 35,109 12,158
Teotal income 820,389 4,225,118 357,041 2,729.470
Expenses
Staff costs 25 {960,544)  (1,705,002) (426,810) (1,042,166)
Administrative expenses 26 {831,482) {783,321) (491,587 (405,510)
Investments related expenses 27 (10,719) (24,138) (13,055) (27,781)
Directors’ remuneration - (30,000) - (30.000)
Tatal expenses (1,802,745) (2,542,461) (931,452) (1,505,457)
Net income (982,356) 1,682,657 (574.411) 1,224,013
Finance costs (826,055) (792,032) (642,360) (661,756)
Impairment loss on non-financial assets:
- tnvestment propertics 13 - (35,000) - -
- others - (33) - (33)
Impairment loss on financial instruments — net 6 {122,555) 113,870) {118,586) -
(948,610} (840,935) (760,946} {661,789)
{Lass)/profit before tax (1,930,966) 841,722 (1,335,357 562,224
Income tax 28 100,580 42,100 - -
{Loss)/profit after tax for the year {1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company (1,646,626) 292,032 (1,335,357) 562,224
Non-controlling interests {183,760} 591,790 - -
{1,830,386) 883,822  (1,335357) 562,224
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 30 {0.0135) 0.0024 (0.0110) 0.0046

The notes on pages 11 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated and sceparate financial statements.

Report of the Auditors - page 1



OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

{Restated) (Restated)
2019 2019

Group Parent
RO RO

(Loss)/profit for the year (1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224
Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year (1,830,386) 883,822 {1,335,357) 562,224

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to:

- Owners of the Parent Company (1,646,626) 292,032 (1,335,357) 562,224
- Non controlling interests {183,760) 591,790 - -
(1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224

The notes on pages 11 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

Report of the Auditors - page 1
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10
OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
. T s “(Restated) { (Restated)

- 2019 2019

Sl Group Parent
Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before tax {1,930,966) 841,722 (1,335,357 562,224
Adjustments for:

Share of loss/(profit) of equity accounted investees 215,341 35,646 218,244 {586,821)
Depreciation/amortisation 477,099 338407 246,872 123,363
Dividends income (1,405,653) (1,716,034) {1,252,349) (1,345,484)
Interest income 22 (15,281) (60,172) (15,281} (35.077)
Net income from financial assets at FVTPL 7 905,463 (2,058,137) 804,412 (675,817)
Impairment loss on investments - 33 - 33
Employees end of service benefits 19 26,886 57,893 10,341 37,151
Impairment loss on financial instruments - net 13 - 35,000 - -
Provision for doubtful debts written off 118,586 (12,389) 118,586 -
Interest expense 826,055 792,032 642,360 661,756
Cash outflows before working capital changes (782,470) (1.745,999) (562,172) (1.258,672)
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables 707,305 1,589,961 (185,272) 1,997,011
Trade and other payables 411,396 213,377 (172,769) 159,085
Inventories (17,653) 35,880 - -
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 318,578 93,219 (920,213) 897,424
Interest paid (818,537) (792,032) (642,360) (661,756)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 19 (51,047) (294,360) {43,469) (253.227)
Net cash used in operating activities (551,006) (993.173) {1,606,042) (17,559)
Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (16,569) (586,122) - (552,765)
Dividends and interest income received 1,420,934 1,811,281 1,267,630 1,415,636
Dividends from equity accounted investees 587,725 453,859 587,725 453,859
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTPL 6,181,726 7,596,124 761,661 1,733,733
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (4,830,274) (3,108,178) - (378.408)
Net cash generated from investing activities 3,343,542 6,166,964 2,617,016 2,672,055
Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of term loans (18,549,504) (30,728,875 (18,549,504) (30,728,874)
Proceeds from term loans 16,112,373 29,200,048 16,112,373 29,200,048
Repayment on redemption of units - (836) - -
Payment of finance lease liabilities (13,938) (16,931) - -
Transfer of cash to Al Amal Fund due to merger - (3,379.432) - -
Net cash flow used in financing activities (2,451,069) (4,926,026) 2,437,131) (1,528,826)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 341,467 247,765 (1,426,157) 1,125,670
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year (289,047) (536.812) (742.362) {1,868,032)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5 52,420 (289,047) (2,168,519) (742,362)

The notes on pages 11 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

Report of the Auditors - page |



OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG 11
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202¢

1 Legal status and principal activities

Oman and Emirates Investment Holding Company SAOG (the “Parent Company”) is registered as an Omani joint stock
company. It is engaged in investtment activities and related services in accordance with Royal Decree No. 10/93 and its
Articles of Association. The Parent Company operates in the Sultanate of Oman under the Commercial Companies Law
of the Sultanate of Oman, 2019. The Branch operates under the relevant local requirements of the UAE.

The Group has the following subsidiaries and equity accounted investees.

ubsiirles

Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG Oman 81 g1 Manufacture of baby food
The Financial Corporation Company SAOG Oman 51 51 Financial services
Equity accounted investees

Oman Hotels and Tourism Company SAOC Oman 32 32 Hospitality services
Oman Fiber Optic Company SAOC Oman 21 21 Fiber optic products
Fincorp Al Amal Fund Oman 37 37 Financial Services
2 Basis of accounting

These consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group™). The separate financial statements represent the financial statements of the
Parent Company on a standalone basis. These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and applicable requirements of Commercial Companies Law,
2019 and the disclosure requirements of the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) of Sultanate of Oman.

The consolidated and separate statement of financial position is prepared in descending order of liquidity, as the
presentation is more appropriate in the Groups operation,

{a)  Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are reviewed regularly and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment of investment in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries

The Group reviews its investment in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries periodically and evaluates for objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence includes the performance of equity accounted investees and subsidiaries, the
future business model, local economic conditions and other relevant factors. Based on the objective evidences, the Group
determines the need for impairment loss on investment in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries,

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability that future taxable
income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised.
In addition, significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in
various tax jurisdictions.
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2 Basis of accounting (continued)
(a) Use of judgements and estimates (continued)

Inventories

Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available at
cach reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology or other market-driven
changes that may reduce future selling prices.

COVID-19

Due to the dynamic and evolving nature of Covid-19, limited recent experience of the economic and financial impacts of
such a pandemic, and the short duration between the declaration of the pandemic and the preparation of these consolidated
and separate financial statements, changes to the estimates and outcomes that have been applied in the measurement of the
Group’s assets and liabilities may arise in the future.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has impaired, considering projected cash flows, terminal growth rate and
discount factors. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at FVQCI, but not to
investments in equity instruments. For assets in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model, impairment losses are generally
expected to increase and become more volatile.

Fair value measurement

Management uses various valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how
market participants would price the instrument. Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but
this is not always available. In that case, management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Rials Omant, which is the Group’s functional currency.
{c) Changes in significant accounting policies

New and revised Standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

A number of new and revised Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Some
accounting pronouncements which have become effective from | January 2020 and have therefore been adopted, do not

bave a significant impact on the Group's financial results or position.

Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have not been
adopted early by the Group

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated and separate financial statements, several new, but not yet effective,
Standards and amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of these
Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted carly by the Group.

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on or after the
cffective date of the pronouncements. New Standards, amendments and Interpretations not adopted in the current year have
not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on these consolidated and separate financial statements
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3 Significant accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented. The consolidated and
separate financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRSs for each type of asset,
liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below.

3.1  Basis of accounting and consolidation
(a)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date when the Parent Company loses the control.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with the relevant accounting standard either in consolidated statement of profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity,

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-
controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Goodwill is tested for any impairment annually.

Consequent to the amendment in [AS 27, effective 1 January 2017, the Parent Company has adopted equity method to
account for its investment in subsidiaries for the purpose of its separate financial statements.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profit or loss resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated, Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions -
that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

{© Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive
income. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Consequently, amounis previously recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income are reclassified
to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

{(d}) Equity accounted investees

Equity accounted investees are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a sharcholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in equity accounted investees
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised
at cost, including transaction cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of
the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in equity accounted investees
includes goodwill identified on acauisition.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.1  Basis of consolidation (continued)

(d) Equity accounted investees (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income is reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or less is recognised in the consolidated and scparate statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
recejvables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate
is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recaverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to *share of profit/(loss) of an associate’
in the statement of profit or loss.

Profit or loss resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the consolidated and separate financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the equity
accounted investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopied by the Group.

Consequent 1o the amendment in 1AS 27, effective 01 January 2017, the Parent Company has adopted equity method to
account for its investment in associated for the purpose of its separate financial statements.

3.2  Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions.

3.3  Foreign currency translation
(a)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Group companies

The resuits and financial position of all the Group entities {(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary

cconomy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation

cutrency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each consolidated and separate statement of financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and all resulting
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of
borrowings are taken to consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive income.
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3 Significant accounting paolicies (continued)
3.4  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. The cost includes any other cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use and the cost of dismantling and remove the item and restering the site on which they are
located. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Years
Buildings 20-40
Plant and machinery 15-20
Furniture, fixtures 3-5
Leasehold improvements 5
Office equipment 3-5
Vehicles 34

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within *other income’ in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.

3.5 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise land and buildings held for long-term rental yields and not occupied by the Group.
Investment properties are carried at cost, less impairment. Any required impairment charge is recorded in the consolidated
and separate statement of comprehensive income.

3.6 Intangible assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, equity accounted investees and joint ventures is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cach of the CGUs, or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which goodwill is monitored for intemal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill are not subject to amortisation or depreciation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceceds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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3 Sigrificant accounting pelicies {(continued)

3.8  Financial assets and financial liabilities

1] Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified at: amortised cost; fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) - debt investment; fair value through other comprehensive income - equity investment;
or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the
business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

- itis held within a business model whose objective is 1o hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A dcebt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in the consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FYOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FYOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially measured at the
transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition,

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurcment of financial assets,

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including
Financial assets at FVTPL any interest or dividend income, are recognised in consolidated and separate
statement of profi or loss.

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in consolidated
and separate statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as
income in consolidated and separate staternent of profit or loss unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in consolidated and separate statement of other
comprehensive income and are never reclassified to consolidated and separate
statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised
cost

Equity investments at FYOCI
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial linbilities (continued)
Financial Assets (continued)

Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the Group considers all
of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

— the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes whether the investment
strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the
duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilitics or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model)
and how those risks are managed,

— how the investment manager is compensated: e.g., whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity. Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group's continuing recognition of the assets.

The Group has determined that it bas two business models.

— Held-to-collect business model: this inciudes cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers and receivables
from reverse sale and repurchase agreements. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

— Other business model: this includes debt securities, equity investments, investment in unlisted open-ended investment
funds and unlisted private equities. These financial assets are managed and their performance is evalvated, on a fair value
basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPP1

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition,
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g., liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash fiows such that it would not meet this
condition.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group were to change its business

model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of
the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
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38 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i}  Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities {centinued)
Financial liabilities

Classification

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classificd as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including
any interest expense, are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost vsing the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. On
derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid
(including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in the consolidated and separate statement
of profit or loss.

Modification

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in the
consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any,
and the assurnption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original
effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability
and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on
the instrument.

3.9 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which
the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

The Group measures the fair value of a quoted instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument,
A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e.,
the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be
insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to
defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price.
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3 Significant accounting pelicies {continued)
39 Fair value measurement (continued)

Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no
tater than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by
the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price that would
be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for the particular risk exposure,

Portfolio level adjustmenis - e.g., bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measurement on the basis

of the net exposure — are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of
each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable
on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

3.10 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated and separate statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains and losses arising from
a group of similar transactions such as in the Group's trading activity.

i Impairment of financial assets

The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to
investments in equity instruments.

The financial assets at amortised cost consist of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and corporate debt
securities,

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:
- 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and
- lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured as 12-
month ECLs:

- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e., the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
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3.11 [Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood
definition of ‘investment grade’.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

Measurcment of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at FYOCI
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Presentation of impairment losses
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are presented separately in the consolidated and separate
statement of profit or loss.

3.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of consolidated and separate statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, all
bank balances, including short term deposits with a maturity of three months or less from the date of placement and bank
overdrafts.

3.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the Jower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other dircet costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

3.14 Government Grant

Government Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. The loans on the soft terms are carried in the consolidated and
separate statement of financial position at fair value being the fair value of consideration received. The fair value of the
consideration received is the sum of all future cash payments, discounted using the market borrowing rates of interest for
loans having similar maturity to discount the future contractual cash flows.

The difference between the fair value and the principal amount of the loans is treated as Government grant and deferred
over the period of the loans. The deferred Government grant is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
it on a systematic basis to the costs which it intended to compensate.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.15 Income tax

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the consolidated and separate
statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income. Current tax is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affect neither the accounting nor taxable profits, and
difference relating to subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that they probably will not reverse in
foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

3.16 End of service benefits and leave entitlements

Provision for end of service indemnity for non-Omani employees has been made in accordance with the terms of the
Oman Labour Law and its amendments and is based on current remuneration rates and cumulative years of service at the
consolidated and separate statement of financial position date. Employee’s entitlements to annual leave and leave passage
are recognised when they accrue to the employees up to the reporting date. These accruals are included in current
liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan for Omani employces in accordance with the Omani Social
Insurance Law are recognised as an expense in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss as incurred.

3.17 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources from the
Group and they can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be unceriain. A present obligation
arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resuited from past events. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable
evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelibood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate of the Group's
management.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable
or remote, no liability is recognised, unless it was assumed in the course of a business combination. These contingent
liabilities are recognised in the course of the allocation of purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired in the
business combination. They are subsequently measured at the higher amount of a comparable provision as described
above and the amount initially recognised, less any amaortisation.

Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is
recognised as a separate asset. Flowever, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered
contingent assets.

3.18 Revenue recognition policy
The majority of the Groups revenue is derived from trading in equity securities of Companies,

The Group uses the following 5 steps model for revenue recognition.
ldentifying the contract with a customer

Identifying performance obligation

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation
Recognising revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied

il o )
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.18 Revenue recognition policy (continued)
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, a contract asset is recognised for the eamed consideration that is conditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

Dividend, interest and other income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR).

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is cstablished.
Brokerage revenue is recognised on completion of the deal.

Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign
exchange differences, interest and dividend income, including dividend expensc on securities sold short.

3.19 Directors’ remuneration

The Dircctors’ remuneration is governed as set out in the Memorandum of Association of the Group, the Commercial
Companics Law and regulations issued by the Capital Market Authority.

3.20 Dividend distribution

Dividends are recommended by the Board afier considering the profit available for distribution and the Parent
Company’s future cash requirements and are subject to approval by the sharcholders at Annual General Meeting.
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the Board.

3.21 Fiduciary assets

The Group provides trustee services to third partics, which involve the holding of the assets of the third parties. These

assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated and separate financial statements. {Note
29).

322 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

3.2} Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the
service or as incurred.

3.24 Share capital
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Retained earnings include current and prior period results recorded in the consolidated and separate statement of
changes in equity.
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4 Financial risk management
4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, cash flow interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk management programme of the Group focuses on
unpredictability of financial markets and secks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance.

The Board of Directors defines risk limits and sets suitable policies in this regard for management of credit risk, liquidity
risk as well as market risk relating to the investment and liability management activities of the Group, Risk management
is carried out by the management in accordance with documented policies approved by the Board of Directors,

(a) Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk arising from future commercial transactions or recognised financial assets or labilities
being denominated in a currency that is not the Group's functional currency.

The Group transactions are mainly denominated in Rial Omani, United Arab Emirates Dirham (UAE Dirham), Kuwaiti
Dinar, United States Dollar (US Dollar), Euro and Saudi Riyal. The accounting record of the Parent Company’s branch
at Abu Dhabi is maintained in UAE Dirhamn. The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk for its net assets
denominated in UAE Dirham and US Dollar as the functional currency and UAE Dirham is pegged with US Dollar. Any
changes in exchange rate relating to Kuwaiti Dinar and Euro are not material to the Group.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the uncertainty of future carnings resulting from fluctuations in interest rates. The risk arises when
there is a mismatch in the assets and liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustment within a specified period.
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest-bearing asscts and liabilities including bank deposits, bank
overdrafis and term loans. Assets and liabilities carrying variable rates expose the Group 1o cash flow interest rate risk.

Financial assets al amortised cost and loan from Governments carry fixed interest rate. Assets or liabilities carrying fixed
interest and measured at amortised cost are independent of the short-term changes of the applicable interest rates. Such
assets or liabilities do not expose the Group to interest rate risk.

The Group place bank deposits or barrow funds in accordance with liquidity management policies. The bank deposits
are of short term nature and repriced at the time of maturity. The Group borrowings, overdraft and term loans are at
commercial terms which reprice yearly or more frequently. Such frequent re-pricing exposes the Group to interest rate
risk. The Group carries out periodic analysis and monitors the market interest rates fluctuations taking into consideration
the Group's needs. In case of material market rate fluctvations, the terms of the deposits and borrowings are renegotiated
with the banks and whenever necessary reinvested or borrowed.

If the variable interest would have changed by 50 basis points for the year based on average borrowing level and with all
other variable held constant, the profit for the Group and the Parent Company would have been lower/higher by
RO 60,238 (2019: RO 69,251} and RO 57,438 (2019: RO 66,709), respectively, as per details given below:

inanclal liabilities:

At 1 January 13,517,540 14,182,767 12,524,111 14,159,605
At 31 December 10,577,806 13,517,540 10,451,054 12,524,111
Average outstanding 12,047,673 13,850,154 11,487,582 13,341,858

Impact of 50 basis point on average 60,238 69.251 57,438 66,709
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
these changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, or its issuer, or factors affecting all securities in
the market.

The Group trades in financial instruments to take advantage of short term and long term capital market movements. All
investment securities present a risk of loss of capital. The Group controls this risk through a careful selection of securities
and other financial instruments within specified limits. The maximum risk resulting from financial instruments is
determined by the carrying amount of the financial instruments. The Group’s overall market positions for listed securities
are monitored on a daily basis by the Investment Manager and are reviewed periodically. To manage its price risk arising
from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the country wise indices on the Group's profit and
equity for the year. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity indices had increased/decreased by 5% with
all other variables held constant and all the companies’ equity instruments moved according to the historical correlation
with the index.

Impact on the (loss)/profit due to quoted equity assets held and classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss:

T o T T i T o L o PV S, N T T Tt LS R oL s o gy~ e T, g STy Y, o e e

 Growp _ Parent
Mg (o t NI Ty 2020 2009 2026 2019
fo S s e TR e N R G T Ro N2 RO

Oman 10,074,506 12,231,555 10,013,372 11,756,888
GCC and others 5,086,978 5,441,931 2,803,227 2,875,064
Total 15,161,484 17,673,486 12,816,599 14,631,952
5% increase or decrease 758,074 883,674 640,830 731,598

()  Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk relating to accounts reccivable balances. Each entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each of their new clients before standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from bank balances, financial asscts at amortised cost and credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding amounts from related partics. Management assesses the credit quality of
the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors, Individual risk limits are set
based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.

The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counter
parties and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counter parties. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers
are assessed based on whether they are individuals or legal entity, their ageing profile, maturity and existence of previous
financial difficulties.

The Group limits its credit risk with regard to bank deposits by dealing with reputable banks only.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with
financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.
It includes the risk of being unable to fund assets at appropriate maturities and rates and the risk of being unable 10
liquidate an asset at a reasonable price and in an appropriate time frame.

In accordance with prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

()  The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group is as follows. The amounts are gross,
undiscounted and include contractual interest payments.

Upto 3

months 1to5 years = Over S years
RO RO © RO

31 December 2020 .

Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts 2,307,610 - - - 2,307,610
Trade and other payables 2,424,085 - - - 2,424,085
Term loans 2,302,858 2,045,652 2,461,498 2,170,860 8,980,868
Loans from Governments - 5,200,000 13.453.000 - 18,653,000
Total liabilities 7,034,553 7,245,652 15,914,498 2,170,860 32,365,563

Upto3 3127 |

months months Ito 5 years Over 5 years
RO RO RO RO

31 December 2019
Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafis 2,810,213 - - - 2,810,213
Trade and other payables 1,880,084 - 156,770 - 2,036,854
Term loans 6,499,652 987,537 3,772,758 - 11,259,947
Loans from Governments 2,407,000 3,175,000 10,571,000 2,500,000 18,653,000
Total fiabilities 13,596,949 4,162,537 14,500,528 2,500,000 34,760,014

(ii) The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Parent Company is as follows. The amounts are
rross, undiscounted and include contractual interest payviments.
- %2 Upto3 3ta 12

months months tto5 years  Over 5years

RO RO RO RO

31 December 2020

Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts 2,180,858 - - - 2,180,858
Trade and other payables 626,023 - - - 626,023
Term loans 2,302,858 2,045,652 2,461,498 2,170,860 8,980,868
Loans from Governments 5,200,000 9,800,000 - 15,000,000

Total liabilities 5,109,739 7,245,652 12,261,498 2,170,860 26,787,749
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
4.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Uptod months 3t 12 months 1 t0 5 years ~  Over 5 years

‘RO RO RO RO
31 December 2019
Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts 1,816,784 - - - 1,316,784
Trade and ather payables 675,152 - 156,770 1,018,119 1,850,041
Term loans 6,499,652 987,537 3,772,758 - 11,259,947
Loans from Governments - 2,500,000 10,000,000 2,500,000 15,000,000
Total liabilities 8,991,588 3.487.537 13,929,528 3,518,119 29,926,772

4.2  Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 1o reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown
in the consolidated and separate statement of financial position plus net debt.

20190

Parent
Total borrowings 29,230,806 32,170,540 25,451,054 27,524,111
Less: cash and bank balances {2,452,454) (2,613,590) (104,763) {1,166,846)
Net debt 26,778,352 29,556,950 25,346,291 26,357,265
Total equity 20,279,102 21,614,459 19,550,829 21.197.455
Total capital 47,057,454 51,171,409 44,897,120 47,554,720
Gearing ratio 57% 58% 56% 55%

43 Fair value estimation

The Group follows IFRS 13 for instruments that are measured in the consolidated and separate statement of financial
position at fair value; this requires disclosure of fair value measuremnents by level of the folfowing fair value measurement
hierarchy.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on prices obtained directly from an
exchange on which the instruments are traded or obtained from a broker that provides an unadjusted quoted price from
an active market for identical instruments. For all other instruments, the Group determines fair values using other
valuation techniques.

For instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective and requires varying
degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting
the specific instrument.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
4.3  Fair value estimation (continued)

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements.

— Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

— Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not considered
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

— Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation,
This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments but for which significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments
for which observable market prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used in estimation discount rates and
equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity indices, earnings before interest, tax and depreciation allowance
(EBITDA) multiples and revenue multiples and expected price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair valuc measurement that reflects the price that would be received
to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date.

i. Valuation approach for specific instruments

The following table presents the investments that are measured at fair value.

TS Level 1[5 ‘Level 3

e, T et ‘RO RO

The Group

31 December 2020

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15,161,484 7.587.489 22,748,973
15,161,484 7,587,489 22,748,973

31 December 2019

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17,673,484 7,332,404 25,005,888
17.673,484 7,332,404 25,005,888

N ST Level || F IS Eevel 3 ji
: o ey, I ! . FRO SIS RO SR
The Parent Company
31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12,816,599 6,994,866 19,811,465
31 December 2019

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14,631,950 6,745,588 21,377,538
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The movement in Level 3 instruments is as follows:

2020

Particuldrs Parent

1 January 7,332,405 7,202,096 6,745,594 6,620,109
Unrealised gains 255,084 130,309 249,272 125,485
31 December 7,587,489 7,332,405 6,994,866 6,745,594

Significant unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value:
| Fair value at

31 December Significant unobservable
Description | 2020 Valuation techniques used inputs
Group
Unquoted equity investments 7,587,489 Discounted cash flows (DCF), Expected cash flows
Dividend growth  model Future earnings projection
{DGM), net adjusted value and  Discount  for  lack  of
weighted average combination marketability
of DCF and DGM.
Parent
Unquoted equity investments 6,994,866 DCF, DGM, net adjusted value  Expected cash flows

and weighted average  Future earnings projection
combination of DCF and Discoont for lack  of
DGM. marketability

The carrying amount financial asset at amortised cost approximates its fair value as they carry a fixed commercial rate.
The carrying values less any estimated credit adjustments for assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year
are assumed to approximate their fair values.

4.4  Financial instraments by category

for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
' Financial assets at  Financial assets at
FVTPL amortised cost

The accountin nolicies of the Group

RO RO

31 December 2020

Cash and cash equivalents - 2,452,454 2,452,454
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) - 1,217,177 1,217,177
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22,748,973 - 22,748,973
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,120,651 2,120,651

22,748,973 5,790,282 28,539,255

Financial liabilities
RO

31 December 2020

Bank overdrafts 2,307,610
Trade and other payables 2,424,085
Term loans 8,270,196
Loans from Governments 18,653,000

31,654,891
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

44  Financial instruments by category (continued)

Financial assets at

EVTPL
RO

31 December 2019

Financial assets at
amortised cost
RO

29

Total
RO

Cash and cash equivalents - 2,613,590 2,613,590
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) - 1,988,352 1,988,352
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25,005,888 - 25,005,888
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,131,370 2,131,370
25,005,888 6,733,312 31,739,200
Financial liabilitics
RO
31 December 2019
Bank overdrafts 2,810,213
Trade and other payables 1,757,870
Term loans 10,707,327
Loans from Governments — 18,653,000
33,928,410

The accounting policies of the Parent Company for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial assets at  Financial assets at

FVTPL

amortised cost

RO
31 December 2020

RO

Cash and cash equivalents - 104,763 104,763

Trade and other reccivables (excluding
prepayments) - 22,581 22,581
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19,811,465 - 19,811,465
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,120,651 2,120,651
19,811,465 2,247,995 22,059,460
Financial liabilities
RO

31 December 2020

Bank overdrafts 2,180,858
Trade and other payables 626,023
Term loans 8,270,196
_Loans from Governments 15,000,000

26,077,077
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

4.4  Financial instruments by category (continued)

Financial assets at  Finencial assets at

EVTPL amortised cost
RO RO

31 December 2019

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,166,846 1,166,846

Trade and other receivables (excluding

prepayments}) - 44,430 44,430

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21,377,543 - 21,377,543

Financial assels at amortised cost - 2,131,370 2,131,370
21,377,543 5.374,733 26,752,276

Financial liabilities

RO
31 December 2019

Bank overdrafls 1,816,784
Trade and other payables 1,693,270
Term loans 10,707,327
Loans from Governments 15,000,000

29,217,381

5 Cash and bank balances

2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO

Cash in hand 3,114 2,130 2,186 865
Short term deposits - 253,906 - -
Wakala deposits - 1,035,075 - 1,035,075
Call and current accounts 2,450,107 1,323,211 102,577 130,906
Expected credit loss allowance (767) (732) - -
2,452,454 2,613,590 104,763 1,166,846

(a) Call accounts carry interest rates of 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) per annum.
(b)  Short term deposit carry an interest rate of nil (2019 -3.2%) per annum.

(¢)  The Parent Company's bank balance includes RO 92,424 (2019: 92,424) in a restricted account in lieu of
unclaimed dividend.

{(d)  For the purpose of consolidated and separate statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of
following amounts:

2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parcnt Parent

RO RO RO RO

Cash and bank balances 2,452,454 2,613,590 104,763 1,166,846
Bank overdrafts (Note 18) (2,307,610) (2,810,213) (2,180,858) (1,816,784)
Restricted bank balance (92,424) (92,424) (92,424) (92,424)

52,420 (289.047) {2,168,519) (742.362)
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(] Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from a related party (Note 32) - 1,656 112,140 1,656
Trade receivables 1,290,963 1,963,358 - -
Allowance for expected credit losses {196,806) (192,837) - -
1,094,157 1,772,177 112,140 1,656

Other receivables 372,481 347,050 272,041 173,649
Allowance for expected credit losses {249,461) (130,875) (249,461) (130,875)
123,020 216,175 22,581 42,774

Prepaid expenses 33,780 88,496 8,574 32,181
1,250,957 2,076,848 143,295 76,611

(a} The movement in allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables is analysed as follows:

2019 2020 | 2010

Group Parent Parent

L RO RO RO

01 January 323,712 370,001 130,875 130,875
Charge for the year 127,829 13,870 118,586 -
Reversed during the year {5,274) {60,159) - -
31 December 446,267 323,712 249,461 130,875

{b) Asat 3] December 2020, trade receivables of RO 196,806 (2019: RO 192,837) were assessed as impaired and
fully provided for.

(c)  The fair values of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts, The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or Joss

The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the year is as follows:

2020 20197

Parent Parent |

RO | RO
At I January 25,005,888 32,797,259 21,377,538 22,057,078

Transfer on reclassification of subsidiaries to

associate - (4,847,052) - -
Purchases during the year 4,830,274 3,108,146 - 378,376
Sales during the year (6,575,664) (7,596,124) {857,099) (1,771,837)
Unrealised (losses)/gains during the year (511,525) 1,543,659 (708,974) 713,921
At 31 December 22,748,973 25,005,888 19,811,465 21,377,538

Realised (losses)/gains on sale of investments (393,938) 514,478 (95,438) (38,104)
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7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

(a)  The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent

ROSNS RO RO RO

Rial Omani 17,444,845 19,275,059 16,805,885 18,239,376

UAE Dirham 4,133,845 4,239,498 3,005,580 3,138,162

Saudi Rial 866,639 799,308 - -

Qatari Rial 288,847 9,099 S -

Kuwaiti Dinar - 568,513 - -
Others 14,797 34411

22,748,973 25,005,888 19,811,465 21,377,538

(b) A detailed sector wise analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is disclosed under Note 8.

{c)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RO 10,782,348 (2019; RO 12,569,242) are pledged by
Parent Company with commercial banks as security against credit facilities (Notes 20 and 21).

8 Investments analysis

The following tables provide, the Group’s and the Parent Company's investments in equity sccurities comprising of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(a) Details where the holding of the Group and the Parent Company is 10% or more of the market value of its
investment:

Carrying and |

% of investment Number of fair value | Original cost
portfolio securitics RO RO

Group - local quoted
31 December 2020
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 12,059,442 4,751,420 3,261,888

31 December 2019
Bank Muscat SAQOG 12 13,193,903 5,726,154 3,993,976

Parent - local quoted
31 December 2020

Bank Muscat SAOG 12 12,059,442 4,751,420 3,263,888
31 December 2019
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 13,193,903 5,726.154 3.993.976

{b) Details where the holdings of the Group and the Parent Company is 10% or more of the investee company’s share
capital:

Carrying and

Holding Number of fair value = Original cost
Yo { securities ! RO RO

Group — local quoted
31 December 2020
Computer Stationery Industry Company

SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504

National Aluminium Products Company

SAQG 13 4,462,500 383,775 852,792
759,140 1,321,296

31 December 2019
Computer Stationery Industry Company

SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company
SAOQG 13 4,462,500 758,625 852,792

1.133.990 1,321,296
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8 Investments analysis (continued)

(b) Details where the holdings of the Group and the Parent Company is 10% or more of the investee company’s share
capital {continued):

Carrying and

Holding Number of fair value  Original Cost
Yo Sccuritics RO RO

The Parent Company - local quoted
31 December 2020

Computer Stationery Industry Company SAQG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 383,775 852,792
759,140 1,321,296

31 December 2019
Computer Stationery Industry Company SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 758,625 852,792
1,133,990 1,321,296

Sector wise investment is as follows:

2020 1 2019
Financial Financiat assets
assets at fiir at tair value
value through | through profit or
profitorloss,  Original cost loss Original cost
RO! RO RO RO
Group
Local quoted investments:
Banking and investment seclor 5,924,140 4,945,578 7,512,456 6,183,006
Manufacturing sector 1,133,324 3,299,755 1,490,116 3,309,675
Services and other sectors 3,017,042 2,755,151 3,228 983 2,754,951
10,074,506 11,000,484 12,231,555 12,247,632
Overseas quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 1,583,051 1,384,771 2,090,972 1,852,098
Manufacturing sector 3,159,169 1,161,102 225,344 224,742
Services and other sectors 344,758 299,787 3,125,613 1,095,785
5,086,978 2,845,660 5.441,929 3,172,625
Local unquoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 553,512 484,880 552,933 475,195
Manufacturing sector 3,979,005 2,022,191 3,556,575 2,022,190
Services and other sectors 2,837,822 2,431,788 2,933,995 2416437
7,370,339 4,938,859 7,043,503 4,913,822
Overseas unquoted investment:
Banking and investment sector 217,150 597,684 288.901 597,684
217,150 597,684 288,901 597.684

Total investments 22,748,973 19,382,687 25,005,888 20,931,763
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8 Investments analysis (continued)

Sector wise investment is as follows (continued):

2020

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
RO

Parent Company

Local quoted investments:

Financial assets

at fair value

through profit or

Original cost loss
RO RO

Original cost
RO

Banking and investment sector 5,924,140 4,945,578 7,122,600 5,792,414
Manufacturing sector 1,076,049 3,223,608 1,413,905 3,223,608
Services and other sectors 3,013,183 2,746,551 3.220.383 2,746,552
10,013,372 10,915,737 11,756,888 11,762,574
Overseas quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 140,184 54,968 118,787 54,968
Services and other sectors 2,663,043 722,322 2,756,275 722,322
2,803,227 777,290 2,875,062 777,290
Local unquoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 309,302 250,000 318,053 250,000
Manufacturing sector 3,979,005 2,022,191 3,556,575 2,022,190
Services and other scctors 2,504,206 2,105,522 2,607,859 2,105,522
6,792,513 4,377,713 6,482.487 4,377,712
Overseas unquoted investment:
Banking and investment sector 202,353 533,970 263,101 533,970
19,811,465 16,604,710 21,377,538 17,451,545
9 Investment in equity accounted investees

The movement in investment in equity accounted investees during the year is as follows

2020

Parent
RO

2019
Parent
RO

At 1 January 19,704,887 14,868,150 17,823,619 14,868,150
Purchases/Merger - 5,408,579 - 1444974
Share of loss for the year (215,341) {117,983) (102,861) (35,646)
Dividend received (587,725) (453,859) {587,725) {453,859}
At 31 December 18,901,821 19,704,887 17,133,033 17,823,619

{a) The carrying amount of investment in equity accounted investees includes unimpaired goodwill amounting 10

RO 3,704,608 (2019: RO 3,704,608).

(b) Investments in equity accounted investees are pledged with commercial banks as security against credit facilities

(Notes 20 and 21).
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12.1 Right-of-use asset and lease liability

The carrying amount of right-of-use asset reca gnised and the movements duning the year are as follows:

: ; 31 Becember 31 December

2019

RO

As at 1 January 26,260 43,766
Adjustment due to modification in lease 118,977 -
Depreciation {29,047} (17,506)
As at 31 December 116,190 26,260

osition as follows:
31 December 31 December

Lease liability is presented in the Group's statement of financial

2020

RO
Current 36,411 18,585
Non-current 102,981 8.250
139,392 26,835

Omani Euro foods Industries SAOG (the “Subsidiary Company") has lease liability for the land obtained from Public
Establishment for Industrial Estates (PEIE), Sohar. With the exception of short-termn leases and leases of low-value
underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheel as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the subsidiary Company to sublet
the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the subsidiary Company. Leases are either non-
cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases contain an option to
purchase the underlymg leased asset outnght at the cnd of the lease, or to extend the lease for a further term. The

No. of right of = No. of leases No. of leases No of lease with
Right to use Range of  with extension ' with options to termination
use asset assels leased . remaining term tion

Minimum lease payments due

Within [
one year 1-2 years | 2.3 years
RO RO |
Lease payments 41,816 37,170 37,170 37,170 153,326
Finance charges (5,405) (4,632) {3,082) {815) {13,934}
Net present values 36,411 32,538 34,088 36,355 139,392

13 Investment properties

The investment properties relating to the Group are stated at cost. The market value of these properties as at 31
December 2020 are approximate to their carrying amount.

The movement in the investment properties is as follows:

2020 2019

Group Group

RO RO

At 1 January 3,353,250 335,000
Transfer from capital work in progress (Note 12) - 3,105,000
Less: Depreciation (124,200) (51,750)
_Less: Impairment charged - (35.000)
At 31 December 3,229,050 3,353,250
2020 2019

Parent Parent

RO RO

At 1 January 3,053,250 -
Transfer from capital work in progress (Note 12) - 3,105,000
Less: Depreciation (124,200} (51,750

At 31 December 2,929,050 3,053,250
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14 Deferred tax assets

(a)  Deferred tax is calculated on all material temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax
rate of 15% (2019: 15%). The deferred tax pertains to the FINCORP (a subsidiary) has recognised a deferred
tax asset amounting to RO 401,105 (2019 - RO 300,524) as at 31 December 2020 and the same is calculated
on all material temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 15%. Consequently,
an amount of RO 100,580 (2019 - RO 42,100) has been recognised in the income statement. The deferred tax
asset recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position is related to the following:

Credited /
(charged) to
statement of

1 January comprehensiv. 31 December
2020 ¢ income 2020
RO RO RO

31 December 2020
Deferred tax asset/(liability)

Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation (1,469) 554 (915)

Tax effect of losses 274,290 99,432 373,722

Tax effect of provisions 27,703 594 28,298
300,524 100,580 401,105

31 December 2019
Deferred tax asset/(liability)

Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation (792) (677) (1,469
Tax effect of investments (50,150) 50,150 -
Tax effect of losses 260,687 13,603 274,290
Tax effect of changes in fair value of investment properties 14,454 {14,454) -
Movement through equity 4662 {4662) -
Tax effect of provisions 29,562 {1.860} 27.703

258,423 42,100 300,524

15 Share capital

2020 2019

RO RO

Authorised - 200,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each 20,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and paid up capital — 121,875,000 shares of RO 0.100 each 12,187,500 12,187,500

Shareholders of the Parent Company who own 10% or more of the shares, whether in their name, or through a nominee
account, and the number of shares they hold are as follows:

2020 20119

Number of Number of

shares shares

Abu Dhabi [nvestment Company, UAE 30.00 36,562,500 36,562,500
Al Khonji Investments LLC and Group, Oman 20.31 24,746,833 21,257,653

16 Legal reserve

In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of Oman, annual appropriations of 10% of the profit for the year
are made to this reserve until the accumulated balance of the reserve is equal to one third of the value of the Parent
Company’s paid up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution,

17 Revaluation reserve

In accordance with the Group policy, the items of property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Parent Company
have been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in these consolidated and separate financial
statements. In case where an associaic or a subsidiary of the Group carry any iterns of property, plant and equipment
at a revalued amount in their respective stand-alone financial statements, the Group's share of the revaluation surplus
or loss is not accounted for in these consolidated and separate financial statements.
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17 Revaluation reserve (continued)

The Group's share of revaluation surplus or loss on property, plant and equipment of its subsidiaries or equity accounted
investees, not accounted for in these financial statements in accordance with the Group’s policy, is as follows:

2020 2019

Group Group

RO RO

Equity accounted investees 1,676,981 1,676,981
1,676,981 1,676,981

18 Bank overdrafts

Y

Parent

RO

Banks in Oman (Note a) 846,119 1,341,686 719,367 348,257
Banks in UAE (Note b) 1,461,491 1,468,527 1,461,491 1,468,527
2,307,610 2,810,213 2,180,858 1,816,784

(a) The Group and the Parent Company’s Rial Omani overdraft facilities carry effective annual interest rates ranging from
5.5% t0 6.25%(2019: 5.5% to 6%) per annum. The loans are secured by pledge over the Parent Company’s certain financial
assets and investments in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries (Notes 7, 9 and 10).

{b) The Group and The Parent Company’s UAE Dirham overdrafi facilities carry effective annual interest rate ranging
from 4.87% to 5.61 % (2019 — 4.87% to 5.61%) per annum. The loan is secured by pledge over the Parent Company’s
certain financial assets and investments in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries (Notes 7, 9 and 10).

19  Trade and other payables

(Restated)

2019 2019

Group Parent

RO RO

Account payables 196,525 148,222 49,216 10,924
Other payables and accruals 1,820,900 1,452,753 336,991 506,056
Provision for income tax 7,614 - - -
Amounts due to related partics 9,343 7.614 - -
Employces end of service benefits (Note a) 253,954 278,115 123,642 156,770
Unclaimed dividends 92,424 92,424 92,424 92,424
Due to Directors 9,040 47414 - 30,000
Interest payables 23,750 - 23,750 35,749
Contract liabilities 10,535 10,308 - -
2,424,085 2,036.850 626,023 831,923

al  The movements for emplovees end of service benefits for the year is as follows:
: i 2020 201971 2016

Group Group Parcnt

RO RO ! RO

At 1 January 278,115 514,582 156,770 372,846
Charge for the year (Note 25) 26,886 57,893 10,341 37,151
Paid during the year {51,047) (294,360) {43,469) (253,227}
At 31 December 251,954 278,115 123,642 156,770

20 Term loans

2019 2020 2019
Group Parent Pasrent
RO RO RO
Banks in Oman (Note a) 7,907,486 10,138,855 7,907,486 10,138,855
Banks in UAE (Note b) 362,710 568.472 362,710 568,472

8,270,196 10,707,327 8,270,196 10,707,327
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20 Term loans

(a) The Group and the Parent Company’s Rial Omani term loans carry effective annual interest rates ranging from 3.75%

10 6.25% (2019 3.75% to 5.50%) per annum.

(b) The Group and the Parent Company’s UAE Dirham term loans carry effective annual interest rates ranging from

4.87% to 5.61% (2019: 4.87% 1o 5.61%) per annum.

¢) The maturity period of the term loans is as follows:

2019

Group

RO
Due within one year 4,232,719 7,268,453 4,232,719 7,268,453
Due after one year 4,037,477 3,438,874 4,037,477 3,438,874

8,270,196 10,707,327

8,270,196 10,707,327

d) The movement in term loans during the vear is as follows:

219

2020 2019

Group Parent Parent.
RO RO RO
At 1 January 10,707,327 12,236,153 10,707,327 12,236,153
Availed during the year 16,112,373 318,140 16,112,373 318,140
Repayment during the year (18,549,504) {1,846,966) (18,549,504) {(1,846,966)

8,270,196 10,707,327

8,270,196 10,707,327

{e)  The term loan is secured against pledge of certain assets (Notes 7, 9 and 12).

21 Loans from Governments

2020 2019

Group Group
RO RO

Loans from Governments availed by:
-The Parent Company 15,000,000 15,000,000
-Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG 3,653,000 3,653,000

2020 2019
Parent Parent
RO RO

15,000,000 15,000,000

18,653,000 18,653,000

15,000,000 15,000,000

Less: deferred Government grant relating to:
-The Parent Company (1,676,308) (2,462,000)
-Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAQG (122,000)

(1,676,308) (2,462,000)

(1,676,308) (2.584,000)

(1,676,308) (2.462.000)

16,976,692 16,069,000

13,323,692 12,538,000

(i)  The maturity period of the loan from Government is as follows:

20119 2019

Group Parent

: : RO RO

Within 1 year 5,200,000 6,153,000 5,000,000 2,500,000
Within I - 2 years 2,800,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Within 2 - § years 10,653,000 7,500,000 7,500,000 7,500,000
Over 5 years - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000
Total 18,653,000 18,653,000 15,000,000 15,000,000

{a) [n 2001, the Parent Company received interest free loans of RO 7,500,000 each from the Government of Oman and
UAE. The loan is repayable in 6 annual instalments commencing from November 2020. An extension has been granted

and repayment of loan is now expected to commence from March 2021.

(b)  The loans obtained by Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG are arranged through a bank on behalf of the
Government of Oman. In the year 2020, the repayment schedule of the Government soft loans have been revised as agreed
with the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. These carry an interest of 8% per annum. These loans are secured by a
registered mortgage of the Company’s property, plant and equipment in favour of the commercial bank disbursing the soft

loans
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22  Interest income

2019

Parent
RO

Interest on bonds - 25,095 - -
Others 15,281 35,077 15,281 35,077
15,281 60,172 15,281 35,077

23  Gross profit on sale of food products

The gross profit on sale of food products arrived at as follows:

(Restated)

20149

Group

RO

Sales 1,549,348 1,404,717
Cost of sales (1,442,515) {1,310,882)
Gross profit 106,833 93,835

24  Other income

2019 | 2019

Group | Parent

RO | RO

Fee for fund management - 36,523 - 10,264
Miscellaneous income 27,972 10,170 5,109 1.894
27,972 46,693 5,109 12,158

25 Staff costs

2020 019

Parent Parent

| RO RO

Salaries and benefits 915,761 1,620,099 398,572 978,005
Employees end of service benefits 26,886 57,893 10,341 37,151
Post employees benefits 17,897 27.010 17,897 27,010
960,544 1,705,002 426,810 1,042,166

26 Administrative expenses

2019 2020 2019

Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO

Depreciation 253,626 127,296 236,154 112,673
Legal and professional fees 140,022 118,118 105,678 52,256
Other expenses 88,304 102,480 20,468 52,554
Advertisement and promotion expenses 67,354 73,150 5,576 20,000
Directors’ sitting fees 61,856 67,711 18,900 31,711
Repairs and maintenance expenses 49,374 66,589 20,3714 4970
Securities market fees and charges 47,777 55,237 24,184 23,008
Postage, fax and telephone expenses 33,325 48,205 12,799 24,238
Rent expenses 26,287 32,490 3,287 11,846
Electricity and water expenses 17,272 23,763 9.340 19,564
Insurance expenses 17,254 21,917 7,472 21,917
General meeting expenses 16,991 16,633 16,741 10,208
Project development expenses 6,017 15,089 6,017 5,923
Travelling expenses 5,523 14,642 4,597 14,642

831,482 783,321 491,587 405.510
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27 Investment related expenses

2019 2020 20149

Group Parent Parent
RO . RO RO

Brokerage expenses - 13,448 2,336 7,116
Amortisation of placement charges 10,719 10,690 10,719 10,690
Portfolio management expenses - - - 9,975

10,719 24,138 13,055 27,781

28 Taxation

(a) The tax authorities in Oman follow the legal entity concept. There is no concept of Group taxation in Oman.

(b} The tax asscssment for the Parent Company has been completed up to the tax year 2016, The Parent Company
does not expect to have any material impact for unassessed tax years.

(c) For the year 2020, no provision for taxation is recognised in the separate financial statements of the Parent
Company, since the Company has sufficient brought forward losses against current year taxable income.

Furthermore, deferred tax asset is not recognised on brought forward tax losses, since management anticipates
that future taxable profits may not be sufficient to adjust any deferred 1ax asset.

(d) For Omani Euro Food industries Company SAQG, no provision for taxation has been made as this subsidiary
incurred loss in the current and earlier years.

(e) For FINCORP, no provision for taxation has been made as this subsidiary incurred loss in the current and earlier
years.

29  Trust accounts
One of the subsidiary’s fiduciary activities consist of investment management activities conducted as trustee and

manager for a number of investment funds and individuals. The aggregate amounts of customers’ securities held with
the subsidiary under trust account agreements or under safe custody are as follows:

2020 2019
CGroup Group
= RO RO
Amounts held in:
Non-discretionary trust accounts 3,333,441 2,943,327
_Discretionary trust accounts 4,147,565 4,544,188
7,481,006 7.487.515

30  (Loss)/earnings per share

Basic and dilutive earnings per share calculated by dividing the net {loss)/profit for the year by the weighted average
number of shares of the Parent Company outstanding during the year is as follows:

2019 : 2020 2019

Groufp Parent Parent
Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company

(RO) (1,646,626) 292,032 {1,335,357) 562,224
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year 125,875,000 121,875,000 121,875,000 121,875,000

(Loss)/earnings per share (RO) {0.0135) 0.0024 {0.0110) 0.0046




OMAN AND EMIRATES INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY SAOG 48
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

31 Net assets per share
2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent
RO RO RO RO
Net assets 19,550,829 21,197,455 20,279,102 21.614.459
Net assets per share 0.160 0.174 0.166 0.177
k)) Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties represent subsidiaries, associated
companies, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Parent Company, and companies of
which they are principal owners.

(a) Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss are as
follows:

2019 2019

Group | i Parent
RO RO

Sales and income:

- Through associated companies - 60,948 - -
- Through subsidiary companies - - 761,665 1,743,997
- Major shareholders - 532,525 - -
- Other related parties 120,206 67,600 47,630 67.600
120,206 661,073 809,295 1,811,597
Purchases and expenses
- Through subsidiary companies - 2,336 395,500
- Directors and key management personncl 610,666 1,072,737 265,155 675,650
- QOther related parties 106,908 600 - 600
717,574 1,073,337 267,491 1,071,750

{b) Amounts due from a related party is as follows:

2019 2020 2019

Group Parent Parent
RO RO RO

The Financial Corporation Company SAQG 1,656 112,140 1,656
- 1,656 112,140 1,656

(c} Amounts due to related partics are as follows:
2019 2020 | 2019
Group Parent | Parent
RO RO | RO
Directors 9,040 39,540 - -
Others 9,343 7.614 - -
18,383 47,154 - -

(d) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows

2020 2019 2020 | 2019

Group Group Parent | Parent
RO RO RO | RO
Directors’ sitting fees 61,856 73,150 18,900 20,000

Key management personnel
- Short term benefits 549,060 969,587 246,255 625,650
549,060 969,587 246,255 625,650
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33 Sepmental information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Investment Committee that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Investment Committee considers the business as two sub portfolios. These sub portfolios consist of investments in
Oman and in United Arab Emirates.

The reportable operating segments derive their income by secking investments/funds to achieve targeted returns
consummate with an acceptable level of risk within each portfolio. These returns consist of interest, dividends and gains on
the appreciation in value of investments.

The segment information provided to Investment Committee for the reportable segments is as follow.

The Group operates in the investment industry. The Group's operating revenues arise primarily from investment activities.
The Group operates in two geographic locations; the Sultanate of Oman and the United Arab Emirates. The analysis of
income, expenses, profit and assets and liabilities is based primarily upon the location of the branch responsible for reporting
the results.

~ Oman UAE

2020 201y 2020 2019

el | AT RO SSSRRNEE R O X ‘RO RO

Group

A: Segment Results

Sales 1,549,348 1,404,717 - - 1,549,348 1,404,717
Less: cost of sales (1,442,515)  (1,310,882) - - (1,442,515) (1.310.882)
Gross profit 106,833 93,835 - - 106,833 93,835
Investment income 414,786 2,160,278 85,404 1,613,893 500,190 3,774,171
Interest income 15,281 60,172 - - 15,281 60,172
Management fees 133,235 96,742 - - 133,235 96,742
Brokerage income 145,261 197,375 - - 145,261 197,375
Other income 102,521 120,806 2,409 - 104,930 120,806

Share of results from
equity accounted investees (215,341} (117,983) - - (215.341) (117,983)
Total income 702,576 2,611,225 87,813 1,613,893 790,389 4,225,118

Interest expense {522,074) (472,621) (303,981) (319,411) (826,055) (792,032)
Depreciation and

amortisation {253,505) (116,180) (10,840) (11,116) (264,345) (127,296)
Impairment of

- receivables (122,555) (13,870) - - (122,555) (13,870)
Other expenses (1,461,943)  (2,368,536) {46,456) (81,662)  (1,508,400)  (2,450,198)
Reportable segment
(Loss)/profit before tax (1,657,501) {359,982) {273,464) 1,201,704  (1,930,966) 841,722

B: Segment Assets:
[nvestment in equity

accounted investees 18,901,823 19,704,887 - - 18,901,823 19,704,887
Other investments 19,743,393 21,867,721 5,126,231 5,269,538 24,869,624 27,137,259
Other assets 10,623,292 11,816,851 111,916 117,986 10,735,213 11,934,837
Total assets 49,268,508  53,389.459 5,238,147 5,387,524 54,506,665  58.776,983

Segment liabilities 22,323,158  24.523.029 9,471,125 0,711,196 31,794,283 34,234,225
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M Correction of errors

During the year, the Parent Company identificd that its subsidiary namely “Omani Euro Food Industries SAOG” had
reversed its impairment loss on land and building in previous years which was earlier recorded by the Subsidiary,
impact of which was not incorporated in the books of the Parent Company as well as on the Group level. In addition to
this, the Parent Company had erroneously recorded a share of loss from the same subsidiary in excess of its carrying
amount of the investment. As a consequence, property, plant and equipment, retained earnings and non-controlling
interest were understated in the consolidated accounts, whereas, trade and other payables and retained earnings have
been overstated and understated, respectively, in the books of the Parent Company. The ervors have been corrected by
restating each of the affected consolidated and separate financial statements line items for prior periods.

The aforesaid error has been accounted for retrospectively in accordance with the requirements of the International
Accounting Standard 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and corresponding figures
have been restated. Due to these restatements, the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest period presented (i.e., as of 31 December 2018) has also been included. Following table
summarise the impacts on the consolidated and separate financial statements.

i. Consolidated statement of financial position

Impact of correction of errors
As previously |

reported | Adjustments As restated

RO RO RO

At 1 January 2019

Property, plant and equipment 5,115,086 780,799 5,895,885
Impact on total assets 5,115,086 780,799 5,895,885
Retained earnings 3,223,844 631,190 3,855,034
Nan-controlling interests 6,014,036 149,609 6,163,645
impact on net assets 9,237,880 780,799 10,018,679
At 31 December 2019

Property, plant and equipment 2,374,951 743,594 3,118,545
impact on total assets 2,374,951 743,594 3,118,545
Retained earnings 3,487 627 601,114 4,088,741
Non-controlling interests 3.202,823 142,480 3,345,303
Impact on net assets 6,690,450 743,594 7,434,044

iil. Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Impact of correction of error
As previously

reported | Adjustments As restated
RO | RO RO

At 31 December 2019

Gross profit on sale of food products 131,040 (37,205) 93,835

Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income 131,040 {37,205) 93,835
iii.  Separate statement of financial pesition

Impact of correction of error
As previcusly |

reported Adjustments As restated
RO . RO RO

At 1 January 2019

Trade and other payable 1,667,064 (778,002} 889,062
Impact on total assets 1,667,064 (778,002) 589,062
Retained earnings 4,024,233 778,002 4,802,235
Impact on equity 4,024,233 778,002 4,802,235
At 31 December 2019

Trade and other payable 1,850,041 1,018,118} 831,923
Impact on total assets 1,850,041 (1,018,118) 831,923
Retained earnings 4,346,341 1,018,118 5,364,459
Impact on net assets 4,346,341 1,018,118 5,364,459
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34 Correction of an errors (continued)

iv.  Separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Impact of correction of error
As previously

reported  Adjustments As restated
RO | RO | RO

At 31 December 2019

Share of profit from subsidiary accounted under equity method 382,351 240,116 622,467
Other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive income 383,351 240,116 622,467

35  Commitments and contingencies

(a)  There are no capital commitments outstanding at year end.

b Guarantees:

Bank puarantees ' ' 15,000 329,850
Parent
20020 2019
RO RO
Bank guarantee for investment license in UAE - 314,850
(c) Contingencies

During 2019, the Ex-CEOQ of the Parent Company filed a complaint with the Ministry of Manpower amounting to RO
1,006,000 claiming for compensation for his loss of wages and unfair dismissal. As at the reporting date, no settlement
was reached between the parties. However, during the year, Ministry of Manpower has transferred the case to the
Primary Court of Muscat under case No. 1476/2409:2019 dated 02 February 2020 and the first hearing date was fixed
on 12 February 2020. Later on, a Statement of Defence was filed and the Parent Company contested the entire claim.
The matter is still pending in Court for adjudication.

36 Impact of Covid-19

The existence of novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in early 2020. World Health Organisation characterised
Covid-19 as a pandemic on 11 March 2020, thus negatively impacting global markets, disrupting supply chains, and
changing social behaviours. Currently it is uncertain if Covid-19 will continue to disrupt global markets and what
impact it will have on the Group's operation. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, the Management does not
consider it practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this outbreak on the Group.

37 Change in accounting estimate

During the year, management of the subsidiary Company has reassessed the going concern assumption and based on
the budgeted plan the management expects to use the leased land for a minimum period of further five years since their
aperational facility is located on the same land. The future business projections show further improvement in operations
which is evident from the growth in revenue in the current year. Therefore, the remaining useful life of the leased land
is expected to be 5 years from 1 lanuary 2020 (Note 12.1).

The aforesaid change in accounting estimate has been accounted for prospectively in accordance with the requirements
of the *[AS 8 - Accounting policies, change in accounting estimates and errors’, therefore, corresponding figures have
not been restated. If there was no change in the previous estimate, the right of use asset and lease liabilitics would be
equal to RO 26,260 and RO 26,835, respectively. The effect of this change in estimate resulted in an increase of
depreciation expense by RO 11,541 and interest on finance lease by RO 5,865.



